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The Architectural
Heritage of the Rideau
Corridor

by Barbara A. Humphreys



Abstract

In 1969, an architectural survey was
made of all pre-1880 buildings in the
Rideau Corridor, an area extending
from Ottawa to Kingston (though not
including these two cities) along the
Rideau Canal. Of the 1,800 buildings
recorded, 1,677 were considered to
be within the relevant time period.
This report describes, analyzes and
illustrates a representative collection
of these structures as well as some of
their architectural details.

A survey was undertaken in 1969 by
the National Historic Sites Service of
the National and Historic Parks Branch
for the Canada-Ontario-Rideau-Trent-
Severn (corts) Study Committee.
This survey was designed to record all
pre-1880 habitable structures in the
Rideau Corridor, and also to serve as a
pilot project for the Canadian Inven-
tory of Historic Building commenced
the following year. The boundaries
of the Rideau Corridor were established
by the corts Study Committee and
students were employed by the
National Historic Sites Service to
drive all roads within the given area
to map, photograph and record all
pre-1880 buildings which could be
located. Approximately 1,800 build-
ings were recorded of which 1,677
were considered to be within the rel-
evant time period. The information
obtained on these buildings was coded
for transferral to IBM cards and a pre-
liminary report on the findings was
compiled in 1970.

The preliminary report was primarily
a statistical summary indicating the
number, location, condition, type and
estimated date of construction of the
buildings recorded in the corridor. It
was supplemented by maps, coded to
show where clusters of the more in-
teresting structures might be found,
and a brief commentary on some 45
selected examples. This present report
provides a more comprehensive de-
scription and analysis of the pre-1880
architecture recorded in the survey.

The boundaries of the Rideau Cor-
ridor determined by the corts Study
Committee were followed as closely
as possible, using for practical reasons
the roads nearest the boundaries as
demarkation lines. The cut-off date of
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1880 was chosen because after this
time the economic and architectural
development of the area became more
diversified and thus less representa-
tive of this particular environment.
Selection of the buildings recorded in
the survey was based on architectural
style, the history of the area and, where
available, the history of the building
itself. Early maps and assessment rolls,
locally written histories, family records
and folklore were also utilized to as-
sist in dating. However, because of
the difficulties encountered in accu-
rately dating the buildings, it is pos-
sible that some built prior to 1880
have been omitted and conversely,
that some post-1880 structures have
been inadvertently included. Nonethe-
less it is believed that the survey, both
in coverage and accuracy, provides
more than an adequate amount of in-
formation on which to base a com-
prehensive analysis of the architectural
heritage of the area.

Neither the survey nor this report
could have been completed without
the cooperation and assistance so
freely given by the owners or occu-
pants of the buildings surveyed. Their
interest is very much appreciated since
it not only enabled the recording of
the architectural heritage but, more
importantly, is essential to its future
preservation.



The Heritage

The corridor including the Rideau
Canal runs the entire 125-mile length
of the canal between Ottawa and
Kingston and varies in width to in-
clude parts of the counties of Carleton,
Lanark, Leeds and Grenville, and Fron-
tenac. The area surveyed excludes
Ottawa and Kingston but includes the
centres of Perth, Smith’s Falls and
Kemptville and a number of smaller,
historically interesting communities
(see Fig. 1).

The corridor is largely rural in nature,
encompassing recreational areas,
woodlands, swamplands, pastures
and farms and, too, some of the best
19th-century vernacular architecture
in Ontario in the form of hundreds of
stone cottages, outstanding for their
excellence of proportion and fine sim-
plicity of design. Most of these have
been well maintained or restored and
many of them remain in the families of
the original settlers who built them.
Some of these houses can be found
grouped together in the older settle-
ments of the area. Others remain as the
farm homes they were meant to be
and can be found bordering the main
roads in those areas where initial
settlement was early and concentrated
such as the Burritts Rapids-Merrick-
ville area, the road near Heckston and
the area through Westport and Sun-
bury to Kingston. Still others are iso-
lated and cannot be seen from the
main road but make the required con-
cession road detours most worthwhile.

In addition to these stone cottages
for which the area is justly famous,
there is a substantial representative
group of other types of 19th-century
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buildings — mills, churches, schools
and shops — which were an integral
part of the life and development of the
early communities of the area. Finally,
there survive a number of the buildings
erected to service and defend the
canal. These include 4 of Canada’s 11
remaining blockhouses and several
defensible lockmaster’s houses as well
as a few service buildings. Together
they constitute a style of “semi-mil-
itary” architecture unique in Canada.
This is a rich heritage. The quantity
and quality of the surviving 19th-
century buildings in the Rideau Cor-
ridor, the beauty of their predominantly
rural locale, the history they represent
and the canal itself make this area
of the province a fascinating one both
historically and architecturally.



1 Map of the Rideau Corridor showing the area
covered in the survey
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Settlement

The first settlement of a permanent
nature in the Rideau Corridor was
made in the late 18th century by Uni-
ted Empire Loyalists seeking refuge
from the United States following the
War of Independence. Settlement in
Canada at that time was made doubly
attractive by land grants offered by the
British government as a reward for
loyal services during the war. As a
result many hundreds of British Ameri-
cans arrived in Upper Canada, bring-
ing with them very few material goods
but a great deal of experience in fron-
tier living. For a number of years the
Lovalists constituted the bulk of the
population along the Rideau, but about
1820 a great wave of immigration to
Upper Canada began from England,
Ireland and Scotland. Peaking in the
early 1830s, this was to continue until
1850, and in its course it “completely
changed the nature of the British
North American Colonies, swamping
the old Loyalist and American com-
munities with Irishmen, Scotchmen
and Englishmen new to the New
World and its ways.""

The first community to be estab-
lished in the area was Kingston, chosen
as a naval base in 1792. Burritts Rapids
and Merrickville followed, both found-
ed by Loyalists as mill-sites in 1793
and 1794 respectively. In 1816 Perth
was founded by a group of settlers
from Scotland and a large number of
discharged soldiers from both Scot-
land and Canada. Richmond, another
community originated by disbanded
soldiers, was established in 1818.
Consequently when the Rideau Canal
was begun in 1826 there were already
a few communities established along
the chosen route.

The decision to build the canal was
made following the War of 1812 when
it became obvious that an alternate
route between Kingston and Mont-
real would be essential in the event of
further hostilities. Though it was con-
structed primarily for defence, the
canal also provided a line of commu-
nication through the wilderness that
existed between pioneer farms and
communities. In the course of events
which followed, it was this secondary
purpose that was actually served, as
the canal was never called into active
military use. The canal aided in the
opening of new sections of Upper
Canada and encouraged settlement ; it
fostered the development of some
communities such as Bytown (Ot-
tawa), whose importance partially
stemmed from its position as the ter-
minal point of the canal, and it stimu-
lated and assisted the development of
trade in the area.

The canal was completed in 1832
and the surrounding area thrived and
developed for the next 30 years. The
coming of the railways in the late
1850s, however, marked the begin-
ning of gradual curtailment of com-
mercial traffic on the canal and the
steady decline of the small communi-
ties originally dependent on it, al-
though during the last quarter of the
19th century the canal continued to be
an important passenger route. froni-
cally, the freight on the canal during
this time consisted largely of coal
being shipped to service the cpr divi-
sional point established at Smith’s
Falls.
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The canal actually continued to
serve until 1935 in an increasingly
limited way for transportation of both
passengers and freight. Some of the
smaller towns retained their impor-
tance as rural centres but growth was
largely concentrated around those
communities served by the railroad —
Smith’s Falls, Kemptville and Perth.

In recent years interest in the canal
has been renewed with recognition of
its possibilities as a scenic and recrea-
tional waterway and of the charm and
potential of the stone houses in the
Rideau area. Recognized, too, is the
canal’s historical importance in the de-
velopment of Upper Canada and the
great engineering feat displayed by its
construction under the most primitive
conditions. This recognition is a timely
one, for as Robert Legget has said,
The Waterway is certainly a national
asset of unusual value not only be-
cause of jts historical significance,
being a true “'national historic monu-
ment" even though spread over 120
miles, but also because of the singular
beauty of its course and of the con-
venient access it gives to many inviting
lakes and much pleasant country-
side.?



Builders Along the Rideau

The first buildings in the Rideau Cor-
ridor were most probably of log, hast-
ily erected by owners or by neigh-
bourly “bees.” The plans were basic,
the building small, the necessary ma-
terials at hand, and it took no great
skill to erect at least an adequate
shelter of this kind. Many of these
rather crudely built cabins were re-
placed as soon as possible by a larger
and more permanent type of accom-
modation, usually of stone.

The Loyalists brought with them to
Upper Canada a long tradition and
skill in building, both in wood and
stone, but the expressed preference
for stone in the Rideau Corridor is in-
dicative of the influence of the Irish
and Scottish immigrants, the ready
availability of the material and the
presence in the area of skilied stone-
masons even before the building of the
canal had commenced. Stone houses
such as the Eager place in Heckston,
the Harris-Radenhurst-Inderwicke
house in Perth and the William Mer-
rick house in Merrickville were all
built and occupied before 1826, the
year the canal was begun. However,
the disproportionately large number
of stone houses erected in the Rideau
Corridor between 1830 and 1860 un-
doubtedly was due in large measure

to the stone-masons who arrived in
the area to work on the Rideau Canal,
or learned their trade in so doing and
stayed on to build houses when the
canal was finished. Some, like those
who built the Kelly house in Wolford
township in the 1830s, had no choice:
they were so indebted to Mr. Kelly

for their room and board while work-
ing on the canal that they were obliged
to discharge their debt by building

him a house.

While it is a reasonable assumption
that many of the stone houses were
built by the canal stone-masons, it has
not been possible as yet to actually
substantiate this assumption (except
in a few cases) or even to associate
particular builders’ names with very
many of the buildings. Nor has ev-
idence yet been found as to the origin
of the plans or designs used, even in
those isolated cases where the builder
is known, such as Samuel Langford
who worked in Merrickville in the
18560s building two of the Merrick
houses, or J. Acton who built his
house and the nearby church at Acton
Corners. Since there were several car-
penters” and builders’ handbooks
available in Great Britain and the
United States at the time, it can be
assumed that some of these were im-
ported to Canada and used as guide-
books for house construction. A num-
ber of these, such as The Carpenter’'s
Assistant by William Brown, The Amer-
ican Builder's Companion by Asher
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Benjamin, The Architecture of Country
Houses by Andrew Jackson Downing,
Louden’s Encyclopedia of Cottage,
Farm and Villa Architecture, and Batty
Langley's The City and Country
Builder's and Workman's Treasury of
Designs are known to have been in
libraries of various Mechanics Insti-
tutes before 1870.% Nonetheless, the
buildings in question show little ev-
idence of extensive copying of details
from any one source. On the contrary,
a very small number of all the houses
recorded were found to be identical

in detail, and except for a very few
instances the houses having identical
details were built after 1840 when
planing mills were established and
mass-produced millwork was becom-
ing available. (Prior to about 1840
mill-sawn framing lumber was ob-
tainable but the carpenter usually was
still obliged to manufacture all sash,
doors and trim on the site, and ap-
parently to his own design.) The plans
and designs, then, seem simply to
have been evolved by the owner and
builder, inevitably reflecting his origins
as well as the current style of the
period or area, with their ultimate suc-
cess due to the intuitively fine sense
of scale and proportion displayed in
the design and the skilled craftsman-
ship displayed in its execution.

Not knowing their names, we must
honour the builders as a group. They
have left a lasting memorial in these
plain but well-proportioned, simple
but sturdy buildings. “Good building
hath three Conditions — Commodity,
Firmness and Delight.”4 The early
builders of the Rideau Corridor fol-
lowed that maxim well.



2 The simple lines, unbroken eave and general pro-
portions of this stone house, built about 1832 in
Heckston, South Gower township, are typical of the
earlier houses in the Rideau area.

Houses of the Rideau

The pre-1880 houses recorded in the
Rideau Corridor cover a span of 64
years and include log, stone, frame
and brick construction. Approximately
70 per cent of the 1,677 houses re-
corded are located on farms or in
small communities and the balance

in the larger centres of Perth, Smith’s
Falls, Merrickville and Kemptuville.
Most of the houses were constructed
between 1830 and 1860 by emigrants
from England, Scotland, Ireland and
the United States.

The majority of the houses were of
the same basic form, differing only in
details which reflect either the origin
of their builders or owners, or the
period of construction and the nature
of the building materials used. They
are generally rectangular, end-gabled
structures with a chimney at each end ;
the main entrance door is centrally
located on the long wall, and the
windows are symmetrically arranged.
Most of the houses recorded are 1%
storeys high and have either a straight
eave line or a small decorative gable
over the main entrance in which there
is a decorative window or sometimes
a door. Examples of the typical stone
houses recorded are illustrated by the
house in North Gower township (Fig.
2) and the house in Heckston (Fig. 3).
The only deviation from the end-
gabled form which occurs with any
frequency in the Rideau area is a 1%-
storey front-gable design with an off-
centre door. This style is usually found
in frame or brick houses in the area 3
but is rarely seen in stone.

Influences of all the architectural
styles that were popular in pre-1880
Upper Canada are seen to some degree
in the detailing of houses of the Rideau
Corridor. The influence of the Classical
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3 "Thunderwood Farm” built about 1840 in North
Gower township (Con. 1. Lot 23), with its centre
front gable, end chimneys and decorative doorway
is typical in design of many of the houses in the
Rideau Corridorincluding those of frame and brick
as well as stone.







